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DESCRIBETHE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Located on a 163-acre tract partially within the city limits of Natchez, 
Mississippi, is Elms Court, a five-bay, two-story frame residence covered by 
a pyramidal roof. As it was originally built in ca. 1836, Elms Court was 
similar in both design and plan to other large Natchez residences of the 
period. The facade was covered with flush siding and a giant order portico 
occupied the center bay. Flanked by six-over-six double-hung windows with 
black painted sash, the entrance frontispiece consisted of a large, eight- 
paneled door, sidelights and transom, and was framed by Ionic columns sup­ 
porting a wide returned entablature. A broad center passage, which connected 
the north portico and the south (rear) gallery, separated double parlors on 
the east from dining room, stair alcove and library opposite. Much of the 
interior trim, such as the symmetrical architraves with corner blocks and 
simple wooden columnar mantels, today remains intact. A splendid recessed 
centerpiece with papyrus and acanthus ornamentation located in the center 
passage, and several more common pinwheel centerpieces located elsewhere 
on the first floor may also date to the original construction of the house.

When it became the residence of Ayers P. Merrill in 1852, Elms Court 
was enlarged and remodelled to the appearance known today. The north eleva­ 
tion was transformed from its early Greek Revival design to that of a more 
Romantic villa by the removal of the single-bay portico and installation of 
the existing double-tier cast-iron gallery along the entire facade. Added 
at the same time were symmetrical one-story wings with iron galleries. The 
entire north elevation, which is now painted white, was then blocked off and 
pencilled to simulate ashlar masonry, and painted varying hues of brownstone. 
The interior of the flanking wings, trimmed in typical Greek Revival fashion 
with battered-and-eared architraves and arched, or "New Grecian," marble 
mantels, contained a billiard room, an office, bedrooms and a kitchen. 
Curvilinear Gothic mantels replaced early wooden ones in two rooms in the 
older section. Most significantly, a new dining room was created when the 
small library behind the stair alcove was joined to the newly enclosed rear 
gallery, the seam being disguised by a wide arch supported by reeded pilasters, 
and the end chimney being moved to an interior wall to provide a symmetrical 
axis. A large punka, or fan, suspended from wrought iron brackets straddling 
the arch, was installed during the remodelling. The enclosed rear gallery 
also provided space for a small sitting room and vestibule on the first floor 
and a bath and sun room on the second. With the completion of the ca. 1852 
remodelling, Elms Court assumed what is substantially its present-day appear­ 
ance.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
Constructed in ca. 1836, Elms Court is a significant and well-preserved 

example of the Greek Revival style and is one of the most prominent "suburban 
villas" in the Natchez region. Its notable galleries, which were added across 
the entire facade in ca. 1852, are possibly the most lavish use of ornamental 
iron in Mississippi. In addition to its architectural interest, Elms Court 
is significant as the residence of Ayers P. Merrill, a locally important mer­ 
chant, planter and diplomat.

In 1835, the widow of Governor Winthrop Sargent conveyed 228 acres of 
her plantation, "Gloucester," to Jefferson Beaumont, a wealthy Natchez business­ 
man (Deed Book W:502). The following year Beaumont divided the property and 
sold a twenty-nine acre tract to Eliza and Katherine Evans, who constructed 
the original two-story, five-bay center section of Elms Court (Deed Book II: 
282). The Evans sisters retained the title to Elms Court until,1842 when it 
was sold to George W. Turner, who more than doubled its acreage over the fol­ 
lowing decade (Deed Book DD:451). In 1852, the property was purchased for 
$25,000 by Francis Surget, Sr. (Deed Book 11:306), ". . .an early pioneer 
and the richest and most successful planter of this [the Natchez] section" 
(Goodspeed,2:431), who presented it to his daughter, Mrs. Ayers P. (Jane Surget) 
Merrill, as a wedding gift. The Merrills soon enlarged the house, redecorated 
portions of the interior, and installed the splendid iron galleries along the 
north elevation* Except for the addition of bathrooms in secondary spaces and 
certain other necessary modernizations, Elms Court stands today substantially 
as it did during the Merrill ownership.

Ayers P. Merrill was a native of Adams County, Mississippi, a graduate 
of Harvard and a student of law in the New Orleans office of Seargent S. 
Prentiss, the famous political orator. After his marriage to Jane Surget 
in 1851, he settled at Elms Court and became a successful planter. At the 
close of the Civil War, Merrill, whose wife had died in 1864, moved to 
New York and began the commission merchant partnership of Goodman and Merrill. 
In 1876, President U. S. Grant appointed Merrill United States Minister to 
the Kingdom of Belgium, a position he held for a few years until paralysis 
forced him to retire to Elms Court, where he died in 1882 (National Cyclopedia 
of American Biography, 12:314; Goodspeed, 2:430-32).

In 1895, James Surget bought Elms Court from Merrill's heirs and gave 
the property to his newly married daughter,Mrs. David L. McKittrick (Deed Book 
3L:746). The house is now occupied by her daughter, Mrs. Grace M. S. MacNeil, 
who regularly opens it to the public.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Except for twelve acres recently added, the tract of land known as Elms Court 

reached its present size during the Merrill ownership (1852-1895). Because of the 
encroaching commercial and residential development of the city of Natchez, it is 
important that the total Elms Court tract be preserved as the setting appropriate 
for this significant "suburban villa." The tract consists of the land south and 
west of John R. Junkin Drive between the center lines of the Pearl Bayou and the 

Spanish Bayou.______________________________________________________ 
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